IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

No. 21-0664

(Warren County No. SRCR031908)

STATE OF IOWA,

Plaintiff-Appellee,

vs.

PAMELA MILDRED MIDDLEKAUFF,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT IN AND FOR
WARREN COUNTY

THE HONORABLE KEVIN PARKER

**DEFENDANT-APPELLANT PAMELA MILDRED
MIDDLEKAUFF'S APPELLATE BRIEF**

Katherine Sears, AT0013374
Clark and Sears Law, PLLC
317 6th Avenue, Suite 1200
Des Moines, IA 50309
Telephone: (515) 491-6128
Facsimile: (844) 466-9366
Email: katie@clarkandsears.com
**ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT-
DEFENDANT PAMELA MILDRED
MIDDLEKAUFF**

FINAL BRIEF

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING MS. MIDDLEKAUFF'S THIRD MOTION TO DISMISS.

Authorities

Albright v. Oliver, 510 U.S. 266 (1994)
Brinegar v. United States, 338 U.S. 160 (1949)
Conant v. Walters, 309 F.3d 629 (9th Cir. 2002)
Gonzales v. Oregon, 546 U.S. 243 (2006)
Griffin v. Illinois, 351 U.S. 12 (1956)
Hager v. M & K Constr., A.3d 137 (N.J. App. Div. 2020)
Hughes v. Fetter, 341 U.S. 609 (1951)
Johnson v. United States, 576 U.S. 591 (2015)
Knight v. Iowa Dist. Ct. of Story Cty., 269 N.W.2d 432 (Iowa 1978))
Nguyen v. State, 878 N.W.2d 744 (Iowa 2016)
Roe v. Wade, 410 U.S. 113 (1973)
State v. Bock, 357 N.W.2d 29 (Iowa 1984)
State v. Epps, 322 N.W.2d 288 (Iowa 1982)
State v. Gallardo, 871 N.W.2d 703 (Iowa Ct. App. 2015)
State v. Gibbs, 239 N.W.2d 866 (Iowa 1976)
State v. Hall, 235 N.W.2d 702 (Iowa 1975)
State v. Hartog, 440 N.W.2d 852 (Iowa 1989)
State v. Johnson, 528 N.W.2d 638 (Iowa 1995).
State v. Kidd, 562 N.W.2d 764 (Iowa 1997)
State v. Lawr, 263 N.W.2d 747 (Iowa 1978)
State v. Little, 710 N.W.2d 545 (Iowa Ct. App. 2005)
State v. Nail, 743 N.W.2d 535 (Iowa 2007)
State v. Naujoks, 637 N.W.2d 101 (Iowa 2001)
State v. Okun, 296 P.3d 998 (Ariz. Ct. App. 2013)
State v. Powers, 278 N.W.2d 26 (Iowa 1979)
State v. Price, 237 N.W.2d 813 (Iowa 1976)
State v. Rasmussen, 213 N.W.2d 661 (Iowa 1973)
State v. Robinson, 618 N.W.2d 306 (Iowa 2000)
State v. Romeo, 542 N.W.2d 543 (Iowa 1996)
State v. Tague, 676 N.W.2d 197 (Iowa 2004)
State v. Turner, 630 N.W.2d 601 (Iowa 2001)
State v. Welton, 300 N.W.2d 157 (Iowa 1981)

State v. White, 545 N.W.2d 552 (Iowa 1996)
United States v. Feingold, 454 F.3d 1001 (9th Cir. 2006)
United States v. Salerno, 481 U.S. 739 (1987)
Varnum v. Brien, 763 N.W.2d 862 (Iowa 2009)

Arizona Revised Statutes 32- 2801(1)(a)(i)
Arizona Revised Statutes 32-1525
Arizona Revised Statutes 32-2801(17)(a)
Arizona Revised Statutes 36-2801
Arizona Revised Statutes 36-2804.02(A)(1)
Arizona Revised Statutes 36-2806.02(A)(3)
Arizona Revised Statutes § 36-2811(B)(1)
Iowa Code § 155A.3
Iowa Code §155A.30
Iowa Code §124.401(5)
Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.11(6)(a)
Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.5(4)
21 U.S.C. § 812(b)(1)(B)
21 U.S.C. § 823
21 U.S.C. § 824(a)(4)
21 U.S.C.A. § 802(20)
21 U.S.C.A. § 802(21)
U.S. Const. Art. 4. § 1
Uniform Controlled Substances Act (1994).

Douglas Laycock, Equal Citizens of Equal and Territorial States: The Constitutional Foundations of Choice of Law, 92 Colum. L. Rev. 249, 290 (1992).

Institute of Medicine. 1999. Marijuana and Medicine: Assessing the Science Base. Washington, DC: The National Academies Press.
<https://doi.org/10.17226/6376>.

National Conference of State Legislatures, State Medical Marijuana Laws, (<https://www.ncsl.org/research/health/state-medical-marijuana-laws.aspx>).

Opinion and Recommended Ruling, Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Decision of Administrative Law Judge in the Matter of Marijuana Rescheduling Petition, Docket No. 86-22 (Dep't Justice D.E.A., Sept. 6, 1988).

Oxford English and Spanish Dictionary, “prescription,”
(<https://www.lexico.com/en/definition/prescription>).

II. MS. MIDDLEKAUFF WAS DENIED A FAIR TRIAL.

Authorities

Chambers v. Mississippi, 410 U.S. 284 (1973)
Clack v. Reid, 441 F.2d 801 (5th Cir. 1971)
Gen. Elec. Co. v. Joiner, 522 U.S. 136 (1997)
Grotto v. Herbert, 316 F.3d 198 (2d Cir. 2003)
Henderson v. Fisher, 631 F.2d 1115 (3d Cir. 1980)
Mathews v. United States, 485 U.S. 58 (1988)
Rosario v. Kuhlman, 839 F.2d 918 (2d Cir.1988)
State v. Anderson, 636 N.W.2d 26 (Iowa 2001)
State v. Bynum, 937 N.W.2d 319 (Iowa 2020)
State v. Gibbs, 239 N.W.2d 866 (Iowa 1976)
State v. Jeffs, 246 N.W.2d 913 (Iowa 1976)
State v. Marin, 788 N.W.2d 833 (Iowa 2010)
State v. Naujoks, 637 N.W.2d 101 (Iowa 2001)
State v. Reeves, 209 N.W.2d 18 (Iowa 1973)
State v. Rohm, 609 N.W.2d 504 (Iowa 2000)
State v. Schuler, 774 N.W.2d 294 (Iowa 2009)
State v. Smith, 272 N.W.2d 859 (Iowa 1978)
State v. Tague, 676 N.W.2d 197 (Iowa 2004)
State v. Turner, 630 N.W.2d 601 (Iowa 2001)
State v. Webb, 648 N.W.2d 72 (Iowa 2002)
United States v. Agurs, 427 U.S. 97 (1976)
United States v. Burge, 990 F.2d 244 (6th Cir. 1992)
United States v. Garner, 529 F.2d 962 (6th Cir. 1976)

Iowa Code § 124.101(19)

Iowa Code § 124.401(6)

Iowa Code § 204.2(9)

Iowa Code § 204.7(7)(c)

Iowa Code §124.401(5)

Iowa Code Chapter 124

Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.19(2)

Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.19(5)(f)

Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.5(3)

Giving Tree Dispensary, “Medical Customer.”

<https://givingtreeaz.treez.io/onlinemenu/?customerType=MEDICAL>

Organic CBD Nugs, “Premium CBD Flower.”

<https://organiccbd-nugs.com/collections/cbd-hemp-flower>

U.S. Food and Drug Administration, “Drugs@FDA Glossary of Terms.”

<https://www.fda.gov/drugs/drug-approvals-and-databases/drugsfda-glossary-terms>

ROUTING STATEMENT

This case should be retained by the Iowa Supreme Court because the case presents a substantial constitutional question as to the validity of a statute, because the case presents a substantial issue of first impression, and because the case presents a fundamental and urgent issue of broad public importance requiring prompt or ultimate determination by the supreme court. Iowa R. App. P. 6.903(2)(d); Iowa R. App. P. 6.1101(2)(a); Iowa R. App. P. 6.1101(2)(c); Iowa R. App. P. 6.1101(2)(c).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case involves the Warren County government's criminal prosecution of an Arizona medical marijuana patient who traveled with Iowa with her prescription medication.

Nature of the Case: This is an appeal by Defendant-Appellant Pamela Mildred Middlekauff from adverse pretrial rulings and from her conviction, sentence, and judgment for Possession of a Controlled Substance (Marijuana), a serious misdemeanor in violation of Iowa Code Section 124.401(5). Judgment was entered following a jury trial in Warren County District Court. Appeal has been perfected by timely filing of the Notice of Appeal and by Combined Certificate.

Course of Proceedings: On January 20, 2020, the State of Iowa alleged by trial information in Warren County District Court that on or about December 23, 2019, Defendant-Appellant Pamela Middlekauff had unlawfully possessed a controlled substance (marijuana) in violation of Iowa Code Section 124.401(5). (Information) (App. 8). Ms. Middlekauff pleaded not guilty and waived her right to a speedy trial. (Written Arraignment) (App. 19).

Jury trial commenced on May 13, 2021. (Trial Transcript 1:1-1:25) (App. 221). The jury returned a verdict finding Ms. Middlekauff guilty of Possession of a Controlled Substance (Marijuana). (Verdict Form Count 1)(App. 221) and the trial court entered judgment and sentence. (Judgment and Sentence p. 1) (App. 216). Ms. Middlekauff was sentenced to two days incarceration. (Judgment and Sentence p. 2)(App. 217). Her jail time was suspended and she was placed on probation. (Judgment and Sentence p. 2) (App. 217). She was instructed to pay a \$315 fine and a \$47.25 surcharge. (Judgment and Sentence p. 2) (App. 217). She was also directed to obtain a substance abuse evaluation and complete any recommended treatment or education and to abstain from all controlled substances. (Judgment and Sentence p. 2-3) (App. 217-218).

FACTS

Ms. Middlekauff suffers from chronic pain arising from osteoarthritis. (Trial Transcript 69:11-69:19) (App. 289). Dr. Kareen O'Brien, a licensed practitioner in the State of Arizona, prescribed medical marijuana to Ms. Middlekauff as a treatment for the chronic pain arising from this condition. (Trial Transcript 67:8 - 67:17; 69:16-69:22) (App. 287; 289). Based on Dr. O'Brien's medical marijuana physician certification, the State of Arizona issued Ms. Middlekauff a medical marijuana identification card that was still active and valid in December of 2019. (Trial Transcript 69:4-69:8; 67:8-67:10; 70:24-71:4) (App. 289; 287; 290).

In December of 2019, Ms. Middlekauff purchased marijuana from Giving Tree dispensary, a medical marijuana dispensary licensed by the State of Arizona. (Trial Transcript 71:5-71:24) (App. 291). When she purchased her medication, Ms. Middlekauff was required to show the dispensary employees her state medical marijuana identification card. (Trial Transcript 72:11-72:19) (App. 292). Dispensary employees verified that Ms. Middlekauff's prescription was valid at the time she entered the dispensary and again at the time she purchased her medication. (Trial Transcript 72:20-72:24) (App. 292).

Dispensary employees scanned the barcode on Ms. Middlekauff's medical marijuana identification card and would not have permitted Ms. Middlekauff to purchase more marijuana than the amount prescribed to her. (Trial Transcript 73:1-73:25) (App. 293).

Ms. Middlekauff drove from her home in Arizona to Wisconsin to transport a family dog whose person had passed away. (Trial Transcript 75:13-75:20) (App. 295). Police stopped her for speeding in Iowa and the State of Iowa charged her with possessing marijuana in violation of Iowa Code Section 124.401(5) notwithstanding that at the time of the stop, Ms. Middlekauff had a valid marijuana prescription. (Trial transcript 67:8-67:10) (App. 287).

The State introduced two witnesses at trial. The State's first trial witness, Megan Reedy, is a criminalist for the DCI lab. The State did not file a Minute of Testimony for Ms. Reedy that included Ms. Reedy's name. At trial, Ms. Reedy testified that she tested the substance at issue and that the substance was marijuana.

The State's second trial witness was Agent Luke Valenta. (Trial Transcript 106:25-107:2) (App. 326-237). Agent Valenta testified that on December 23, 2019, he stopped Ms. Middlekauff for speeding. (Trial

Transcript 109:7-109:24) (App. 329). While speaking to Ms. Middlekauff, Agent Valenta smelled marijuana and asked Ms. Middlekauff whether she had smoked it. (Trial Transcript 111:15-111:20) (App. 331). Ms. Middlekauff told him that she had not smoked marijuana in the car but did have marijuana with her. (Trial Transcript 111:15-111:23) (App. 331). Agent Valenta asked Ms. Middlekauff for the marijuana. (Trial Transcript 111:5-111:7) (App. 331). Ms. Middlekauff handed Agent Valenta a “pouch with the little small individual pouches of marijuana in it.” (Trial Transcript 111:6-111:20) (App. 331).

Ms. Middlekauff was not permitted at trial to present any evidence of her affirmative defense to the jury. (Pretrial Conference 10:23-10:24) (App. 40); (Pretrial Conference 13:2-13:5) (App. 43). The trial court refused to offer Ms. Middlekauff’s requested instructions and interrogatories. (Pretrial Conference 13:13-14:17) (App. 43-44). Ms. Middlekauff was permitted to make an offer of proof regarding her affirmative defense outside the presence of the jury. (Trial Transcript 67:3-75:25) (App. 287-295).

The trial court allowed the government to introduce Agent Valenta’s testimony, criminalist Reedy’s test results, and some bags of marijuana into evidence over Ms. Middlekauff’s objections. The jury convicted Ms.

Middlekauff of illegal possession of marijuana without ever being told that Ms. Middlekauff had a prescription for medical marijuana or that it is not illegal to have a controlled substance obtained pursuant to a valid prescription.

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING MS. MIDDLEKAUFF'S THIRD MOTION TO DISMISS.

a. Error Preservation and Standard of Review

Defendant's third motion to dismiss was predicated on both the Iowa Rules of Criminal Procedure and the state and federal Constitutions. (Motion to Dismiss (Third) p. 1) (App. 55).

This Court should review the trial court's denial of Ms. Middlekauff's motion to dismiss the trial information pursuant to the Iowa Rules of Criminal Procedure for errors of law. *State v. Johnson*, 528 N.W.2d 638, 640 (Iowa 1995).

Ms. Middlekauff's constitutional rights are also implicated. Review is *de novo* for those arguments predicated on constitutional precepts. *State v. Tague*, 676 N.W.2d 197, 201 (Iowa 2004) (citing *State v. Naujoks*, 637 N.W.2d 101, 106 (Iowa 2001)). The Court independently evaluates the totality of the circumstances shown in the record. *Tague* at 201 (quoting *State v. Turner*, 630 N.W.2d 601, 606 (Iowa 2001)).

When a law limits a fundamental constitutional right, such as the Due Process right to be free from prosecution under vague statutes, strict scrutiny

applies strict scrutiny applies. *State v. Hartog*, 440 N.W.2d 852, 854 (Iowa 1989). Under strict scrutiny, a law is unconstitutional if it does not “promote a compelling or overriding” governmental interest that justifies its infringement on a fundamental right. *Id.* (citing *Roe v. Wade*, 410 U.S. at 155).

b. Argument

i. An Arizona medical marijuana card is a “prescription” or an “order of a practitioner” under Iowa law.

Neither “prescription” nor “order of a practitioner” is defined in the Iowa Code. A prescription or practitioner’s order is an affirmative defense to the charge of possession of a controlled substance. Iowa Code Section 124.401(5); *see also State v. Gibbs*, 239 N.W.2d 866, 868 (Iowa 1976); *State v. Gallardo*, 871 N.W.2d 703 (Iowa Ct. App. 2015) (“[O]ne may lawfully possess a controlled substance obtained pursuant to a valid prescription.”)

“Prescription” is not defined in the Iowa Code. Words without legislative definitions are given their ordinary meanings. *State v. Kidd*, 562 N.W.2d 764, 765 (Iowa 1997) (citing *State v. White*, 545 N.W.2d 552, 555 (Iowa 1996)). The dictionary is one way to ascertain a word’s common and

ordinary meaning. *Kidd* at 765 (citing *State v. Romeo*, 542 N.W.2d 543, 548 (Iowa 1996)).

The Oxford English and Spanish Dictionary defines “prescription” as:

- “An instruction written by a medical practitioner that authorizes a patient to be provided a medicine or treatment.”

OR

- “A recommendation that is authoritatively put forward.”

Oxford English and Spanish Dictionary,
Synonyms, and Spanish to English Translator,
“prescription.”

<https://www.lexico.com/en/definition/prescription>
(July 8, 2020).

While the Iowa Code never explicitly defines “prescription,” the Pharmacy chapter does define prescription drug:

“Prescription drug” or “drug” means a drug, as classified by the United States food and drug administration, that is required by the United States food and drug administration to be prescribed or administered to a patient by a practitioner prior to dispensation.

Iowa Code. § 155A.3

The United States food and drug administration’s “drug” definition includes substances intended for use in the treatment of disease. U.S. Food and Drug

Administration, “Drugs@FDA Glossary of Terms.”

[https://www.fda.gov/drugs/drug-approvals-and-databases/drugsfda-glossary-](https://www.fda.gov/drugs/drug-approvals-and-databases/drugsfda-glossary-terms)

[terms](#) (September 29, 2021). The FDA further defines a “prescription drug product” as something that “requires a doctor’s authorization to purchase.”

Id. (August 23, 2021). Because marijuana is, in this context, a substance intended for use in the treatment of symptoms arising from disease, it is a “drug” under the FDA’s definition. Because Iowa law defines “prescription drug” as a drug that the FDA says must be prescribed and because the FDA definition of prescription drug is a drug that requires a doctor’s authorization to purchase, Ms. Middlekauff’s marijuana, which required her doctor’s authorization to purchase, is a prescription drug under the definition in the Pharmacy chapter of the Iowa Code.

Iowa Code Section 124.401(5) must “give fair warning of what is prohibited” (*State v. Welton*, 300 N.W.2d 157, 160 (Iowa 1981) (internal citations omitted)) and must “be interpreted strictly with doubts therein being resolved in favor of the accused.” *Id.* Where, as here, a doctor evaluated and diagnosed a patient, recommended a treatment, and submitted documentation to the state government authorizing the patient to access an otherwise-restricted medication, it is clear that a medical marijuana

identification card provided to the patient by the government for the purpose of enabling the patient to legally purchase marijuana was proof of a valid “prescription.” Iowa Codes Section 124.401(5) exempts patients who have valid prescriptions from prosecution. Ms. Middlekauff therefore never should have been charged.

The State argued Ms. Middlekauff’s Arizona medical marijuana card did not exempt Ms. Middlekauff from prosecution because Ms. Middlekauff did not show that her physician was a “practitioner.”¹

1

No evidence was provided the prescribing person identified in the attachments to the motions to dismiss was in fact a person licensed, registered or otherwise permitted to distribute, dispense or administer controlled substances in the State of Iowa. While she may be licensed in Arizona, for purposes of Iowa law, she is not a practitioner. Additionally, there has been no authority presented by the defendant an out of state doctor can provide a prescription for marijuana to a person that would legalize that conduct in the State of Iowa.

State’s Resistance to Defendant’s Motion to Dismiss, March 4, 2020, pts. 8-9 (App.).

The State’s argument was, at its core, that Iowa will not recognize any prescription as “valid” unless it was written by a physician licensed *in Iowa*. (See also: Pretrial Conference 9:7-9:11) (App. 39) (“What we are saying is that unless the defendant can provide some sort of authority that allows for out-of-state prescriptions for controlled substances to be valid in the state of Iowa, they are not valid in the state of Iowa.”).

Iowa does not require nonresident physicians to register in Iowa. *State v. Rasmussen*, 213 N.W.2d 661, 666 (Iowa 1973). Furthermore, “[t]he [. . .] definition of ‘practitioner’ incorporated in the Iowa statute is the same definition for ‘practitioner’ as that adopted by [. . .] the Uniform Controlled Substances Act. See also definition of ‘practitioner’ in 21 U.S.C.A. [§] 802(20).” *Id.* at 664.

The Federal Controlled Substances Act readily acknowledges that doctors licensed in the jurisdiction where they practice are “practitioners:”

The term “practitioner” means a physician, dentist, veterinarian, scientific investigator, pharmacy, hospital, or other person licensed, registered, or otherwise permitted, **by the United States or the jurisdiction in which he practices or does research**, to distribute, dispense, conduct research with respect to, administer, or use in teaching or chemical analysis, a controlled substance in the course of professional practice or research.

21 U.S.C.A. § 802(21) (emphasis added).²

The Uniform Controlled Substances Act, which the Iowa Supreme Court acknowledged in *State v. Rasmussen* is the source of Iowa’s definition of “practitioner,” limits its definition to doctors who are licensed “by this State:”

“Practitioner” means a physician, dentist, veterinarian, scientific investigator, pharmacist, pharmacy, hospital, or other person licensed, registered, or otherwise permitted, by this State, to distribute, dispense, conduct research with respect to, administer, or use in teaching or chemical analysis, a controlled substance in the course of professional practice or research.

Rasmussen at 664 (citing Art. 1, Sec. 101 (20), Uniform Controlled Substances Act (1994)).

“Several provisions of the Uniform Controlled Substances Act (1990) are derived from the wording of the federal Controlled Substances Act. In most instances, deviations from the wording of the federal act are intended to improve readability, with no change in substance.” Uniform Controlled Substances Act (1994) p. 11 (emphasis added). The “practitioner” definition is necessarily one of those instances where the wording of the definition may

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