IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA
Supreme Court No. 21-0664

STATE OF IOWA,
Plaintiff-Appellee,

vs.

PAMELA M. MIDDLEKAUFF,
Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT
FOR WARREN COUNTY
THE HONORABLE KEVIN PARKER, JUDGE

APPELLEE'S BRIEF

THOMAS J. MILLER
Attorney General of Iowa

TIMOTHY M. HAU
Assistant Attorney General
Hoover State Office Building, 2nd Floor
Des Moines, Iowa 50319
(515) 281-5976
(515) 281-4902 (fax)
tim.hau@ag.iowa.gov

DOUGLAS A EICHHOLZ
Warren County Attorney

ERIC ANDERSON
Assistant County Attorney

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF-APPELLEE

AMENDED FINAL

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

In *Dobson v. McClennan*, the Arizona Supreme Court considered two defendants’ claims that they were immune from conviction for driving under the influence because they were in possession of state-issued medical marijuana cards. 361 P.3d 374, 375 (Ariz. 2015). Relevant here, each defendant relied in part on Arizona’s

prescription drug defense for DUI where a “drug . . . or its metabolite [is] in the person’s body.” *Id.* at 375–76. Individuals could rely upon the affirmative defense where the person was “using a drug as prescribed by a medical practitioner who is licensed pursuant to title 321 and who is authorized to prescribe the drug.” Ariz. Rev. Stat. § 28-1381(D). The Arizona Supreme Court noted the defense was inapplicable because under Arizona’s statutes, marijuana is not “prescribed:”

Medical marijuana used pursuant to “written certifications” under the AMMA is not “prescribed,” *see* A.R.S. §§ 36–2801(18), –2804.02(A)(1); and the § 28–1381(D) defense applies to drugs prescribed by a different class of licensed “medical providers” than those who may issue medical marijuana certifications. Compare A.R.S. § 28–1381(D) (defining “medical providers” as including licensed podiatrists, dentists, medical doctors, and osteopathic physicians) with § 36–2801(12) (defining “physician” as including licensed medical doctors and osteopathic, naturopathic, and homeopathic physicians).

Id. at 377–78. This distinction puts to rest any other reliance on dictionary definitions to clarify the term “prescription.” Appellant’s Br.23.

And Arizona is not alone. Other jurisdictions recognize having access to medical marijuana through a registry scheme like Arizona’s

is distinct from a doctor’s “prescription.” *See McLeod & Swinomish Tribal Cmty.*, 15 Am. Tribal Law 368, 370 (Swinomish Tribal C.A. 2013) (rejecting claim Washington’s authorization for medical marijuana use was the equivalent of a “valid prescription,” noting Washington’s statutes “clearly and purposefully never calls the Green Card a ‘prescription’; it is merely a document necessary to avoid State prosecution of an otherwise illegal drug”); *Bruyette v. State*, 253 P.3d 512, 515 (Wy. 2011); *State v. Thiel*, 846 N.W.2d 605, 613 n.2 (Minn. Ct. App. 2014) (“[M]edical cannabis is not prescribed by health care practitioners. Rather, a practitioner may provide a patient with a ‘certification of diagnosis’ of a qualifying medical condition, which the patient then includes as part of an application to become part of the patient registry program”); *see generally See Kuruc*, 846 N.W.2d at 324 (concluding that because schedule I drugs could not be prescribed in North Dakota, defendant could not rely on prescription drug defense where prescription for marijuana was obtained in Washington).

As an additional example, in a case substantially similar to this one, the Wyoming Supreme Court considered whether a defendant could rely on Wyoming’s prescription defense for marijuana

possession where the defendant's marijuana was obtained pursuant to Colorado medical marijuana laws. *Burns v. State*, 246 P.3d 283 (Wy. 2011). The defendant in the case asserted this was a "valid prescription or order of a practitioner" just as Middlekauff does. *Id.* at 284–85. The Wyoming Supreme Court made short work of the argument:

Generally, our first step would be to analyze the definitions of "prescription" and "order" as used in the statute. However, in this case there is no need to engage in that analysis. The possession of marijuana, even for medical purposes, remains illegal. Therefore, it would be illegal for a physician to prescribe or order, in any sense, the possession of marijuana. *Indeed, the Colorado law simply allows for a physician to certify that a patient might benefit from the use of marijuana as a medical treatment. It is then left entirely up to the patient whether to apply for a medical marijuana registry card from the State of Colorado.* It is the State of Colorado that makes the final determination whether the patient qualifies for the registry card, thereby exempting the patient from criminal liability for possessing amounts of marijuana necessary for medicinal purposes. *Importantly, it is not the action of the physician that determines any potential possession of marijuana by the patient. Clearly, therefore, the physician is not prescribing or ordering the possession of marijuana as contemplated by the language of § 35-7-1031(c).* The exception found in § 35-7-1031(c) simply does not apply in this case.

Id. at 286 (emphasis added) (citations omitted).

Although not controlling precedent, the case is persuasive authority here. Wyoming’s prescription defense is practically identical to Iowa’s. *Compare* Wyo. Stat. Ann. § 35-7-1031(c) (“It is unlawful for any person knowingly or intentionally to possess a controlled substance unless the substance was obtained directly from, or pursuant to a valid prescription or order of a practitioner while acting in the course of his professional practice, or except as otherwise authorized by this act.”) *with* Iowa Code § 124.401(5). Colorado’s medical marijuana act functions like Arizona’s, with doctors providing medical certifications that in turn leave the issuance of a registry card to state officials. *Compare* Ariz. Rev. Stat. §§ 36-2804.02; 36-2804.03; 36-2804.05 *with* Colo. Const. art. XVIII, § 14(3). Only once approved by the state may the “qualifying patient” obtain marijuana from an approved dispensary. *See* Ariz. Rev. Stat. § 36-2806.02; Colo. Const. art. XVIII, § 14(4)-(5); Colo. Rev. Stat. Ann. § 44-10-501.

And though it does not authorize the possession of marijuana and is not applicable in this case, the State notes a brief examination of Iowa’s cannabidiol statutes show a comparable intent to avoid the

term “prescription.” See Iowa Code §§ 124E.2–.4, 124E.12; 124E.25. This form of registry system is equally distinct from Iowa’s prescription framework. In light of these various textual and functional similarities, this Court should reject Middlekauff’s attempts to equate Arizona’s medical marijuana card and registry system with prescription.

This is not unjust or surprising. Iowa may police its territory as an independent sovereign. Middlekauff cannot claim any reliance on Arizona’s medical marijuana law to protect her conduct in other jurisdictions. She was forewarned that “Possessing marijuana may violate local, *state*, and federal laws *and this card may not provide legal protection.*” 2/7/2020 Attch.1 p.2 (emphasis added); App. 23; Trial Tr. p.74 line 12–20 (offer of proof). Under Iowa law, Middlekauff’s possession was criminal and Arizona law provided no shield. The district court was correct to deny her third motion to dismiss.

B. Iowa’s prohibition on the possession of marijuana is not unconstitutionally vague; the fact that Middlekauff could not possess marijuana in this state or rely on the defense could be discerned from Iowa’s statutory framework.

As an alternative grounds for reversal, Middlekauff attacks Iowa Code section 124.401(5)’s justification *defense* as unconstitutionally vague as applied to her. Appellant’s Br.37–40. This Court should reject that challenge as well.

Article I, Section 9 of the Iowa Constitution and the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution prohibit the enforcement of vague statutes. “The clause is broad and captures the common concept that all laws are required to give people of ordinary intelligence fair warning of the prohibited conduct so they will have a reasonable opportunity to navigate through life by engaging in lawful conduct and spurning unlawful conduct.” *State v. Newton*, 929 N.W.2d 250, 255 (Iowa 2019). The Iowa Supreme Court has historically interpreted due process guarantees of Iowa and the Federal Constitutions to be co-extensive—Middlekauff makes no argument to the contrary—and this Court should continue to do so. *Nguyen v. State*, 878 N.W.2d 744, 755 (Iowa 2016); *State v. Nail*, 743 N.W.2d 535, 539 (Iowa 2007). Under both constitutional provisions,

a statute is impermissibly vague where it “fails to provide people of ordinary intelligence a reasonable opportunity to understand what conduct it prohibits.” *Hill v. Colorado*, 530 U.S. 730, 732 (2000). In addition to this notice interest, the clause exists to “prevent arbitrary or discriminatory law enforcement and prohibits statutes that threaten substantial amounts of constitutionally protected activities.” *Newton*, 929 N.W.2d at 255 (citing *Nail*, 743 N.W.2d at 539).

When considering vagueness challenges, Iowa courts apply an “avoidance theory”—the Court is to presume that the statute is constitutional and utilize “any reasonable construction” to uphold it. *Nail*, 743 N.W.2d at 539–40. This has been reformulated as requiring a defendant challenging the vagueness of a statute to “refute ‘every reasonable basis’ upon which a statute might be upheld.” *Id.* (quoting *State v. Seering*, 701 N.W.2d 655, 661 (Iowa 2005)). Vagueness challenges are determined on the basis of existing law and not the subjective expectations of a particular defendant. *See id.*

Likewise, when considering a “vague-as-applied” challenge, the Court is to consider whether a defendant’s conduct “clearly falls ‘within the proscription of the statute under any construction.’” *State v. Musser*, 721 N.W.2d 734, 745 (Iowa 2006). If a standard of conduct

can be reasonably ascertained by reference to prior judicial decisions, statutes, the dictionary, or other common generally accepted usage, then the statute satisfies constitutional due process requirements. *State v. Gonzalez*, 718 N.W.2d 304, 310 (Iowa 2006). A challenged statutory provision must be read *in pari materia* with other relevant statutes—Iowa courts assume “the legislature strives to create a symmetrical and harmonious system of laws.” *Nail*, 743 N.W.2d at 541.

The parties do not agree as to the standard of review. When examining a vagueness challenge, this court inquires whether the law infringes on “rights ‘implicit in the concept of ordered liberty.’” *See State v. Hernandez-Lopez*, 639 N.W.2d 226, 237 (Iowa 2002) (quoting *United States v. Salerno*, 481 U.S. 739, 746 (1987)). Middlekauff widely frames the inquiry as her “fundamental right to live unmolested by prosecution under vague criminal statutes” and suggests strict scrutiny is appropriate. Appellant’s Br.38. The State disagrees. No fundamental rights are involved, rather, the statute addresses the non-fundamental right to possess contraband. *See generally Fowler v. State*, 382 N.W.2d 476, 478–79 (Iowa Ct. App. 1985) (rejecting equal protection challenge to arson statute, “While

appellant tries to distinguish between the threat of criminal sanctions and the rights to travel and of liberty, we find this to be a distinction without a difference. Each time criminal sanctions are threatened, the right to travel and of liberty are also threatened. We find the rational basis analysis is the appropriate test to use”); *see also United States v. Fogarty*, 692 F.2d 542, 547 (8th Cir. 1982), *cert. denied*, 460 U.S. 1040 (1983) (applying rational basis because “there is no fundamental constitutional right to import, sell, or possess marijuana”). As she acknowledges, in this void-for-vagueness challenge she bears the burden to “refute ‘every reasonable basis’ upon which a statute might be upheld.” *Nail*, 743 N.W.2d at 539–40; Appellant’s Br.38–39. This is another signal that rational basis review applies. She cannot and has not satisfied her high burden.

Iowa Code section 124.401(5) criminalizes the possession of a controlled substance unless it “was obtained directly from, or pursuant to, a valid prescription or order of a practitioner while acting in the course of the practitioner’s professional practice.” Middlekauff’s possession of marijuana clearly fell within section 124.401(5)’s prohibition. For the reasons set out in subdivision I(A), her medical marijuana card was not a “prescription or order of a

practitioner” for purposes of the section’s justification defense. This was true under either Iowa law or Arizona’s. Any subjective belief that her conduct would be exempted from prosecution based on her possession of the card is immaterial—aside from the general imputation of knowledge of the law to each individual, Middlekauff’s registry card cautioned possession of marijuana may run afoul of other state’s laws. 2/7/2020 Attch.1 p.2; App. 23. Iowa’s statute provided sufficient notice as applied to her conduct. *See generally Newton*, 929 N.W.2d at 256–58 (rejecting vagueness challenge to Iowa Code section 321J.2(1)(c)).

Nor is there a risk of arbitrary enforcement if section 124.401(5) prescription defense is permitted to stand. Prosecutors and law enforcement officers currently operate under a single unified standard—marijuana intended for consumption cannot be possessed in Iowa. *See Iowa Code § 124.204(4)(m), (7)*. The meaning of the term “prescription” and whether a Schedule I substance like marijuana may be prescribed is found by review of Iowa’s controlled substance chapters alongside its statutes controlling pharmacies and prescriptions. This advances uniform application of Iowa’s prohibition and prevents arbitrary application of the defense.

Although she may disagree with its decisions, our legislature has been confronted with question of whether to legalize marijuana possession for medical purposes. Given ongoing scientific developments, moral disputes, and the attendant risks of expanding market sales and the additional drugged driving legalization might bring, the legislature has not adopted medical marijuana systems such as those in Arizona. Instead, it has decided upon a cautious policy. One which permits only the use of cannabidiol products to treat specified conditions through a registry mechanism distinct from prescription. Iowa Code § 124E.1 et seq. It is of course true the legislature could change course, but the law as it stands is supported by a reasonable, rational basis. *See generally United States v. White Plume*, 447 F.3d 1067, 1075–76 (8th Cir. 2006) (classification of Marijuana as Schedule I substance under the Federal CSA continues to survive rational basis test). It provided constitutionally sufficient notice to guide conduct. Iowa Code § 701.6; *see State v. Heinrichs*, 845 N.W.2d 450, 456–57 (Iowa Ct. App. 2013) (rejecting vagueness challenge where defendant purchased a “K-2” substance labeled “100% Pure Evil”); *see also State v. Henderson*, 478 N.W.2d 626, 629

(Iowa 1991) (rejecting vagueness challenge to Iowa’s prohibition on “simulated controlled substances”).

While she may have erroneously believed her conduct was protected from sanction, Iowa law is clear and survives this vagueness challenge.

C. The minutes of testimony were sufficient to permit this prosecution to proceed.

Middlekauff next asserts that because the minutes of testimony “acknowledged” her medical marijuana card without rebutting its validity, the minutes did not provide probable cause to permit the prosecution to proceed and were “improperly filed under the Iowa Rules of Criminal Procedure.” Appellant’s Br.40–41. This Court should reject the assertion outright.

It is of course true that Iowa’s rules of criminal procedure permit a defendant to attack a trial information where

it appears from the indictment or information and the minutes of evidence that the particulars stated do not constitute the offense charged in the indictment or information, or that the defendant did not commit that offense or that a prosecution for that offense is barred by the statute of limitations, the court may and on motion of the defendant shall dismiss the indictment or information unless the prosecuting attorney shall furnish a bill of

particulars which so states the particulars as to cure the defect.

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